
Dallas Area Rapid Transit 
P.O. Box 660163 

Dallas, Texas 75266-7210 
214.749.3278 

DART.org 

TRINITY RAILWAY EXPRESS 

Trinity Metro 
801 Grove Street 

Fort Worth, Texas 76102 
817.215.8600 

Ridetrinitymetro.org 

Trinity Railway Express Advisory Committee Meeting 
Thursday, November 30, 2023 

2:45p – 4:15p 

DART Conference Room 1-C 

1401 Pacific Avenue 

Dallas, TX 75202 

The Trinity Railway Express Advisory Committee meeting will be held in person at the DART Conference 

Room 1-C and recorded. The public is encouraged to attend the meeting in person at the Trinity Metro 

Board Room. The following videoconference link will be available to the public to listen and view the 

meeting within 72 hours: https://www.dart.org/about/board/boardvideo.asp. 

DART Committee Members Trinity Metro Committee Members 

Chair Rick Stopfer Charles Edmonds 

Paul N. Wageman Jeff Davis 

Carmen Garcia Nick Genua 

1. Call to Order

2. Approval of Minutes – September 29, 2023 Meeting

3. Safety Briefing / TRE Operations Report Briefing [5 minutes]

4. TRE Fleet and Facility Needs Briefing [10 minutes]

5. State of Good Repair Briefing [10 minutes]

6. TRE/EMF Drainage Repair Project [10 minutes] [Action Item]

7. FY23 and FY24 Operating and Capital Budget Briefing [5 minutes]

8. Positive Train Control Briefing [5 minutes]

9. Passenger Information Display System (PIDS) [10 minutes] [Action Item]

10. Briefing on DART/TM ILA on TRE Operations [10 mins]

11. TRE Avisory Committee Meeting Times

10. Agenda Items for next TRE Advisory Committee Meeting and Other Business

• Discussion of new TREAC Chair Selection

• TREAC Meeting Times and Locations

11.12. Any Other Business and Identification of Future Agenda Items 

The Trinity Railway Express Advisory Committee may go into Closed Session under the Texas Open Meetings 

Act, Tex. Gov’t Code Section 551.071 (Consultation with Attorney) for advice about pending or contemplated 

litigation or a settlement offer; Section 551.072 (Real Property) to deliberate the purchase, exchange, lease, 

or value of real property; or Section 551.074 (Personnel Matters) to deliberate the appointment, employment, 

evaluation, reassignment, duties, discipline, or dismissal of a public officer or employee or to hear a complaint 

or charge against an officer or employee. 

-REVISED-

https://nam12.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.dart.org%2Fabout%2Fboard%2Fboardvideo.asp&data=04%7C01%7CVEvans%40dart.org%7C999cb4e2b1104ef22e9d08d9e800bcaf%7C4bdf42008d79408b940dbdc4a1c9bfaa%7C0%7C0%7C637795912150056310%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C3000&sdata=aSGKYngePtrIUU44vVYj2nqeEthJiveUlGj4JXitJXg%3D&reserved=0


 1

TRINITY RAILWAY EXPRESS ADVISORY COMMITTEE 
MEETING MINUTES 

September 29, 2023 
 
 

The Trinity Railway Express Advisory Committee convened at 9:09 am Friday, September 29, 2023. 
The meeting took place at 1401 Pacific Avenue, DART Conference Room 1C, was audio and visually 
recorded and is available at https://www.dart.org/about/board/boardvideo.asp.  The following 
Committee members were present: Chairman Rick Stopfer, Paul N. Wageman, Carmen Garcia, Charles 
Edmonds, Nick Genua, and Tito Rodriguez, Trinity Metro Alternate Member. 
 
Others present were: Nadine Lee, Richard Andreski, Bernard Jackson, Dee Leggett, Reed Lanham, Greg 
Jordan, Elizabeth Reich, Gene Gamez, Caitlin Holland, Andrew Kramer, Trey Walker, Megan Tang, 
Paul Bourzikas, Julia Casarez, Vernal Hoston, Claude Smith, James Boggess, Brad Green, Sandra 
Scotton, Glenn Miller, and Patricia Brierre. 
 

1. Call to Order  

Chairman Rick Stopfer called the Trinity Railway Express (TRE) Advisory Committee meeting to 
order, confirming that a quorum was present.   

 

2. Approval of Minutes: May 25th and August 24, 2023 Meetings 

A motion to approve the minutes of the May 25th and August 24th meetings was made. The motion 
was seconded and received unanimously approved. 
 

3. TRE Fleet Replacement Recommendations 

Dee Leggett, EVP, Chief Development Officer, briefed the Committee as follows (presentation on 
file in the Officer of Board Support):  

 TRE System Modernization  
 TRE Advisory Committee Requested Actions 
 System Modernization Objectives 
 System Modernization Challenges 
 Ridership Challenges 
 System Modernization Actions 
 Recommended Hybrid Scenario (Near Term and Long Term) 
 Hybrid Scenario Actions 
 IDOT and Siemen’s Timeline 
 Funding Needs 
 Potential Funding Sources 
 TRE Advisory Committee Requested Actions 

 
Ms. Leggett gave an overview of the requested actions staff is requesting of the committee to 
advance to the boards as the purchase of locomotives, overhauling two coach cars and conversion of 
two coach cars to cab cars, which are both in the FY23 budget. Also advancing is the overhauling of 
additional coaches and cab cars, which are part of the FY24 budgets at both agencies, as well as the 
TxDOT grade crossing initiative that is 100% reimbursable by TxDOT. 

 



 2

Ms. Leggett explained the near-term, mid-term, and long-term objectives for TRE and how these 
investments feed into those three phases of the system modernization program at TRE. In the near-
term within the next 3 to 5 years, the focus is on improving service reliability and vehicle 
cleanliness, meeting World Cup and region’s service expectations with reliable equipment, 
understanding the potential impacts of high-speed rail between Dallas and Fort Worth, and 
investigating the alternative revenue sources for regional rail that are outside of the two agency’s 
funding initiatives. 
 
With mid-term objectives, the focus will be to look at how to increase capacity for service through 
double tracking and improve the speed and frequency of the system to continue to grow ridership, 
improving the capacity for passenger and good movements. With the long-term objectives, the focus 
is to establish uniformity across all the regional corridors and provide level boarding at all platforms. 
 
Some of the system modernization challenges have been the condition of the current fleet and the 
lengthy manufacturing time frame for procurement of vehicles as well as the limited availability to 
Buy America equipment that will meet the Federal Transit Administration’s requirements. Other 
challenges would be the platform height, length, and width that would limit the type of vehicles we 
run, and lastly, the challenge of available funding.  
 
Ms. Leggett noted that although ridership has grown, the numbers are well below pre-Covid 
numbers and is one of the areas slowest to recover from for both agencies. The team is in the process 
of reviewing temporary data as it relates to NCTCOG’s Origin and Destination study to understand 
how our local systems feeds into TRE and TRE feeds into the local system. The final results from 
NCTCOG in October will give TRE more data to understand truly how to project what the ridership 
recovery will look like at TRE and how to modify our service scenarios to better benefit the post-
Covid travel patterns.  
 
Ms. Leggett reviewed the System Modernization Actions taken, completed, and those underway. 
The Fleet and Replacement Study has been completed and they are continuing to do the Ridership 
Modeling to determine those service scenarios, which is underway. DART has done a Regional Rail 
Governance Study that is underway which is looking at what would a standing of a regional rail 
structure independent of the two agencies look and how would it encompass it. 
 
Regarding the recommended hybrid scenario, both agencies are currently not in a financial position 
to fully replace all 11 locomotives; therefore, we would like to purchase 5 or 7 with what additional 
funding we can get from NCTCOG and look at overhauling 10 coaches and cab cars. We recognize 
to build the reliability and the long-term need for double tracking on the west side and purchasing a 
new fleet procurement would be in a post 10-year time frame.  
 
The primary focus is on the locomotives and overhauls, which would allow TRE to meet the World 
Cup objectives in a scalable way. They can manage the cash flow through how the locomotives are 
received, how the overhaul of the coach and cab cars are programmed, and these investments will 
allow TRE to achieve some return if changed to, say year 2033, to a different type of vehicle, the 
investments and new locomotives and cab cars would have market potential outside of the TRE. 
There is a lot of interest in this type of equipment and there is limited manufacturing for the Buy 
America equipment. This equipment would sell in the market. This scenario provides TRE the 
greatest financial stability.  
 
 



 3

 
Ms. Leggett reviewed the scenario options and actions being taken to purchase the locomotives, 
including notifying IDOT Multi-State Locomotive Procurement of intent to participate as a Joint 
Purchasing entity, as well as go into contract with Siemens for purchase of 5-7 locomotives. Other 
actions to take would be to review the short-term leasing options to cover vehicle shortfalls and to 
update the overhaul specifications to achieve greater uniformity across the fleet. The overhaul 
program will ensure reliable, clean trains. To convert two coach cars to cab cars to address the cab 
car shortage will require Board approval. TRE will pursue grant funding, possibly through the FTA, 
that provides advancement towards achieving World Cup goals and confirm the service expectations 
and funding source for additional services. 
 
Ms. Leggett briefed the committee on the IDOT and Siemens timeline, noting that a letter of intent 
will be executed by both agencies’ CEOs to IDOT to join its Multi-State Procurement. A site visit to 
the Siemens facility in Sacramento, CA will allow the team to get a full sense of the equipment they 
would purchase, then the committee would be briefed at the November 30th meeting following that 
visit. TRE would advance Board approvals in early 2024 as well as issue a Notice-to-Proceed to 
Siemens prior to exceptions of the options. It will take 27 to 32 months to get the first delivery of the 
vehicle which will make it challenging to meet the World Cup expectations, but the current TRE 
fleet can provide the reliability the NCTCOG is requesting. But we would like to get those vehicles 
as quickly as possible to feed into the system modernization and replacement program. 
 
Regarding the funding needs, both agencies have committed what is equivalent to $76M to this 
effort of their existing financial plans. In the initial meeting with the NCTCOG, they had indicated a 
$2.5M investment to fund the passenger information display system for TRE at all 10 stations in 
both counties. That resulted in a near-term funding gap of $22M and in a call with Michael Morris at 
NCTCOG, he mentioned $35M to put towards TRE, specific to funding these vehicles. He only 
committed to the $2.5M.  As he continues to speak to future availability of funds; TRE has 
committed to give him a cash flow model of what the $22M would look like and how it would be 
drawn down to fund the vehicle replacements. The meeting with Siemens has given the team a good 
idea of how the funding will look. TRE needs to document that information and give to NCTCOG to 
review their funding strategy over the next 3 to 5 years and how they can assist to support the 
purchase of these vehicles.  
 
Double tracking is a long-term item and if TRE ever changes to a vehicle like Stadler DMU, the 
stations will need to be upgraded and a new maintenance facility erected. These recommendations, 
even without the $22M, can be scalable to achieve the system modernization needs and look to fund 
those future needs in other ways. 
 
Ms. Leggett reviewed the potential funding sources, noting that none of our vehicles currently 
require work that would reduce emissions, therefore not needing the Diesel Emissions Reduction 
Act. The FTA Rail Vehicle Replacement Program comes out in October. DART submitted the light 
rail vehicles for replacement last year and was not successful, although a highly rated grant recipient. 
There was a debriefing with the FTA, and they walked through the criteria. In listening to the 
criteria, it appears TRE would be a strong candidate for the program. DART also received copies of 
some of the successful commuter rail agencies that did get accepted, reviewed their applications, and 
realized that TRE will be able to tell similar stories  regarding the TRE vehicles.  
 
As DART hosts AMTRAK on the TRE, that also creates an opportunity to pursue funding for 
additional infrastructure and capacity improvements. That is part of the long-term goal and probably 



 4

will not help with what we really needed to focus on and how we fund vehicles and have 
conversations with AMTRAK on how to build capacity on the line and leverage their city passenger 
rail funds. Lastly, there are  low interest loans that TRE can pursue as a government agency that may 
also allow us to cover any funding shortfalls. 
 
Ms. Leggett stated that staff wants to get the committee’s feedback on the idea of advancing the 
purchase of locomotives, traditional equipment, but not asking to purchase all 11 locomotives. They 
are scaling to purchase 5 to 7, which would allow replacement of the oldest locomotives in the fleet. 
We will also continue to get the committee’s buy-in to the overhaul program for the coach card and 
coach and cab car conversation. The longer-term initiatives will be the overhauling of the 5 coach 
and 5 cab cars as well as the approval of the 100% reimbursable grant for the grade crossing 
program. 
 
Mr. Genua inquired why the team is only requesting to purchase 7 locomotives instead of the total 
11, since that is what is needed. Ms. Leggett explained that TRE does need 11 locomotives, but the 
Hatch report states that because of the overhauls that have been done to the locomotives, there is still 
some useful life that exists in about 55% of the fleet and the conversation became to get more than 
half of the fleet replaced now. If we are successful in our strategy with the FTA replacement grant to 
ask for all 11 locomotives. She explained how the contract, lots, options, and penalties work in 
purchasing the locomotives, noting the FTA would be willing to structure a contract where TRE 
purchases the equipment. Assuming there is no change or condition, there would be no penalties. 
Mr. Andreski and Mr. Lanham agreed with this concept. 
 
Mr. Rodriguez inquired of the age of the replacement equipment. Ms. Leggett stated the average age 
is 32.4 years old; because TRE does not have uniformed fleet, the ages vary. As some of the fleet has 
been overhauled, it makes them slightly younger.  
 
Chairman Stopfer stated the biggest challenge is financing; unless we find funding sources, he does 
not see how we can move forward. He mentioned taking funds from reserve to cover the budget to 
meet the 20-year financial commitment. The options presented is a way to put a band aid on it and 
get through the process to have a decent show for the World Cup. After that, he is not sure where 
TRE will go from there to have the dollars to move forward unless we can get grants. 
 
Ms. Leggett stated both agencies have already budgeted in FY23 budget about $77M. Ms. Reich, 
EVP/Chief Financial Officer, agreed, stating the funds are already baked in the FY23 financial plan 
and DART has no issues with this plan. This funding has been in the long-term financial plan over a 
period of years. Ms. Leggett stated that is why the team has approached this as scalable and can do 
this with dollars already budgeted by both agencies. We can not do as much as 11 vehicles replaced, 
but we can replace some vehicles with current available dollars included in the FY23 budget from 
both agencies. Greg Jordan, Chief Financial Officer, stated Trinity Metro is prepared for this as well 
and funds are a part of the FY23 financial plan. 
 
Mr. Wageman inquired about the commitments of the region to be a part of the World Cup. Ms. 
Leggett stated the Council of Government meeting focused on service requirements, walking all the 
transportation providers through the expectations and TRE is central to that. The current plan is to 
run service along the existing TRE alignment, then there would be bus service from Centre Port to 
the stadium; not clear if those would be transit buses or a private company. This would not require 
increased service but may require Sunday service or longer trains to accommodate the passengers. If 
there is a Sunday game, NCTCOG would pay TRE for that service. Neither agency was consulted by 



 5

NCTCOG or any other entity about the bid for World Cup.  
 
Mr. Wageman stated the window is closing in on us as the World Cup games is 32 months away and 
seems a bit of a push to have adequate locomotives in a timeline we will not be able to make. Ms. 
Leggett explained that the World Cup is not an initiative for the funding. This initiative has been a 
part of the financial plan, new equipment has never been purchased for the system, and it has been 
known that the equipment needed to be replaced. The study was initiated to assist the team in 
understanding what the condition of the fleet is, how to prioritize the replacement of the fleet, and 
what type of equipment to replace it with. The World Cup is only an emphasis to get NCTCOG to 
fund this. 
 
Mr. Wageman stated continuing serving and moving forward should require a great exploration of 
who TRE’s customers are, what are they using us for, and how can we continue to grow in a 
significant way to justify the millions of dollars being spent by the two agencies. The committee 
needs a better understanding of is this a worthwhile endeavor and seek a cost benefit analysis and 
what the return will be. Is there a schedule that would show how much we are eligible for, when the 
decision would be made, and who the funding sources is so that we can match that against the 
procurement schedule to make sense for us to do. 
 
Ms. Leggett stated the most near-term opportunity is the FTA Vehicle Replacement Grant which the 
notice of funding availability should be issued in October and will take a 6-month time frame to 
review. All of the grants are discretionary that are significantly over-described.  The team wants to 
ensure that the committee is in agreement when TRE receives a grant that it is being used to replace 
locomotive, and cab/coach equipment. The discussion today is if the desire to wait, there should be 
recognition that waiting for federal grants may preclude TRE from participating in the IDOT options 
and would require a lengthier procurement timeframe, further pushing out the purchase.  
 
Mr. Wageman noted he would like to nail down the funding source, knowing how it will be paid 
down and when, and if it is reimbursable or not. He also inquired if the TxDOT reimbursement is 
100% and if the two agencies pay 50% each and are reimbursed. Megan Tang stated the TRE 
contractor, Herzog will invoice DART, DART will invoice TxDOT and be reimbursed within 30 
days as we go. As costs incurs, TxDOT will reimburse us. The project should take a year to 
complete.  
 
Mr. Rodriguez inquired if TRE risks the cost of equipment going up and the availability of 
equipment not there at a future date. Ms. Leggett stated the cost of the equipment will go up, as is 
the nature. If TRE does a procurement outside of the IDOT contract, the availability of the 
equipment may not be there.  
 
The committee discussed the risk of the grant to the letter of intent commitment. The letter of intent 
does not commit to anything and if we were to back out of it, there would be no foul.  
 
Mr. Genua stated TRE has 1M riders a year and that should be noted. Mr. Andreski noted an APTA 
statistic reported that out of 33 services in the country, based on the forecast this year, TRE ranks 
15th nationally. That is 18 railroads carrying fewer people than TRE. Mr. Wageman stated that does 
not mean we are viable; the utility of the system has been deteriorating for years and not working to 
its maximum capacity. With limited dollars and an extraordinarily ambitious program for a 
traditional system., it is costly, and we have to mindful of the tax dollars the 13 member cities give 
to DART.  



 6

 
Ms. Lee noted that she understands Mr. Wageman’s point of view, but asked if we say no to this, 
what are we saying yes to. We would say yest to continued deterioration of the system, including the 
equipment, which would be the driver to even exist as a commuter rail in the future. Both agencies 
have made the commitment to run TRE and have an obligation to make sure the system runs its best. 
The decision and future of the equipment is critical. Mr. Wageman agreed, stating if we leverage the 
World Cup to get locomotives purchased, that would be great. Double tracking is needed to be fully 
efficient, but that service seems a decade away. There has to be focus on if we have to pay for it. We 
need a long-term plan to do this the right way or not do it at all. In the near-term, he would support a 
letter to IDOT, but also suggests get federal money through the grant programs. Ms. Lee stated from 
a staff perspective, we should make a decision to pursue these opportunities. If these opportunities 
do not come to fruition, that would be a different situation. The staff is asking to keep the options 
open.  
 
The committee agreed to preparing the IDOT letter and putting a package to NCTCOG together to 
say what is needed, as well as talk to Mr. Morris about the concept of what the commitment level of 
funding would be for what is needed. After that, the committee would reconvene to discuss moving 
forward. This investment has to do with the riders and the system itself, it is detrimental to our 
customers.  
 
Ms. Leggett stated both agencies have budgeted adequate funds to start this initiative for overhauling 
fleet. The recommendation is to stick to traditional equipment. Then, are we comfortable advancing 
the purchase. The committee is saying to advance to the continued investigation. But we also have 
budgeted and will need to advance through the board processes the conversion of the coach cars to 
cab cars and then the continued overhaul program for the various coach and cab cars. Those are 
budgeted things we need to start advancing now through the various board processes. The question is 
whether the committee is comfortable advancing a procurement for locomotives and then how many 
locomotives we can afford to purchase.  
 
Chairman Stopfer stated with the condition of the fleet as it stands today, the agencies must think 
about repairing what we have. There are enough funds to repair the cars and move forward with that. 
It will depend upon if we get dollars elsewhere, how much we can actually purchase. Adding the 
double tracking in the grant process would be the thing to do. Ms. Leggett stated the challenge is 
because these are discretionary programs, we have to meet the objectives for each grant. Some are 
for the replacement of the vehicles, and there are others where we can expound on TRE’s fleet and 
the need for capacity improvements. The best opportunity for partnership now is the capacity for 
inner-city passenger rail.  
 
Amtrak has the desire to build more capacity, more trips through DFW, which could warrant funding 
for additional double tracking. At the same time, the NCTCOG and TxDOT recognize where 
TxDOT might also be a constraint on our ability to double track as both sides of the corridor impact 
the state highway system. NCTCOG has also committed as TxDOT is doing its improvements, it’s 
making sure to include TRE in those programs. An example would be as TxDOT widens I-35 where 
TRE crosses, double tracking would be included. Any and all grant applications where we can start 
advancing double tracking would be considered, such as the BUILD grant. We are doing a study 
now to prioritize where we need to double track to get the best bang for the buck, and the cost 
benefit analysis of that investment, making sure to know this is the right opportunity, which we feel 
would be the Amtrak partnership. 
 



 7

 
Mr. Rodriguez stated the World Cup is a win-win for TRE that would open funding sources that 
would not normally be there. That would give TRE an opportunity to showcase the system and 
possibly bring new ridership. 
 
Mr. Wageman reiterated his concern for the high-speed rail, noting the same organization this is 
supporting and funding TRE to buy locomotives, is also designing a 30 %, seeking environmental 
approval, of high-speed rail from Dallas to Fort Worth, going right through the same corridor TRE 
operates in. Money is being spent, a partnership is being formed, and we will be asked to spend 
millions of taxpayer dollars again to keep this aging system running. This is an existential threat to 
TRE. 
 
Ms. Leggett reiterated that management has had conversation with Mr. Morris about how we are 
prioritizing high-speed rail and advancement for the TRE, explaining that the success of the high-
speed rail between Dallas and Fort Worth is highly dependent upon two things. One is a willing 
private sector investor that will operate and maintain this over an extended period of time. Two, is a 
connection between Houston and Dallas. Both of those will require extensive financial commitments 
and going to be costly. The trip between Dallas and Fort Worth will be expensive and is not a direct 
competition to the TRE; it will be a direct competition for available regional funds for TRE. But in 
terms of ridership, it will not pull ridership away because of the cost to maintain the trip. Mr. 
Andreski stated there are commuter railroads operating on the same tracks as Acelas, Amtrak’s 
premier service that operates up to 160 mph. And although those markets share the same tracks and 
stations, they serve entirely different groups of people. The demand is high for both commuter and 
high-speed services. There will be people buying tickets from Houston to travel to Fort Worth. They 
will have to transfer from the high-speed rail to the TRE. 
 
Ms. Leggett noted that staff is proposing that there is an immediate need to address the fleet on a 
scalable, responsible way, while also understanding where ridership is coming from, how we 
prioritize the double tracking, if the equipment being purchased has the capabilities to go 125 mph. 
If we stick to the traditional fleet, post year 10, we could get the speed up to a higher speed if 
necessary.  
 
Ms. Lee stated one of the biggest risks for any investment is the lack of a project definition. These 
discussions are helpful getting us to a true project definition that allows us to write the grant 
applications and seek the funding we are discussing. At future TREAC meetings, we should 
structure other conversations to help us further refine the future. Double tracking will be a priority in 
the future and as we see it now, it may be a 20-year investment. With the project definition, TRE 
will know what we are going for. At the next TREAC meeting, staff can circle back to structure the 
conversation back to project definition and what that future looks like. 
 
Chair Stopfer noted one of the important components is approving the equipment that is being 
improved, and in the future, there may be a different type of equipment that has value and TRE 
could sell the revenue back on that investment. The NCTCOG study that talks about ridership will 
be the key component to actually see what TRE is getting. Also take a good look at the TRE riders. 
Some of the homeless riders are causing issues at downtown establishments. Getting a better handle 
on that will make a difference in a lot of places. 
 
Chair Stopfer stated based on the dollars TRE has, the committee can move forward with the 
requests to both respective agencies. Ms. Leggett noted for the appropriate action specific to 



 8

locomotives, the requests to advance to the boards are: 
 
1. Issue IDOT Letter and support staff in continuing investigating the use of the Siemens options that 
a future option will come before this committee early next year ($77M). 

2. Overhaul Coach Cars 1051 and 1055; budgeted for $4.5M in FY23. 

3. Conversion of Coach Car 1048 and 1049 back to Cab Cars; budgeted for $2.5M in FY23. 

4. Advancement of Overhaul Program for 5 Coach and 5 Cab Cars, issuing a solicitation in the 
contract; Capital budgeted for $16M in FY24 to be split equally by both agencies. 

5. Grade Crossing Improvements for Riverside Dr., Beach St., and Haltom Rd. 
 
The committee discussed the items needing subsequent board action. Trinity Metro’s Board has 
already approved Items 2 and 3 for approval and reviewing the funding sheet for financing 
opportunities to obtain funding to assist in the costs. The staff will also continue to seek grants to 
offset the costs. The committee also discussed moving forward and assuring there are no further 
options or consequences to arise in the next meeting. 
 
Mr. Edmonds made a motion to approve to send the IDOT letter (Item 1) and reconvene to 
determine how much grant funding we can get, what we can afford to buy, and how to spend it. With 
Items 2-5, the committee send their recommendation to the boards for approval. Mr. Genua 
seconded the motion, and the committee unanimously approved the items for recommendation. 
 
Recommendations APPROVED 
 
Action Items: 
 Ms. Lee requested Project Definition for TRE (Fleet, double track) 

 Mr. Edmonds requested additional information on future grants and ridership be presented at the 
next meeting.  

 Ms. Garcia requested that the motions be detailed in writing of the approvals to the committee.  
 

4. TRE Coach Car Conversion/Coach Car Overhaul Briefing 

 Recommendation APPROVED  

5. Grade Crossing Improvements for Riverside Dr., Beach St., and Haltom Road Briefing 

 Recommendation APPROVED 

6. TRE Marketing Briefing 
 
Nevin Grinnell, Chief Marketing Officer and Glenn Miller, Director, Marketing, briefed the Committee 
as follows (presentation on file in the Officer of Board Support) on the TRE Marketing. Mr. Miller 
discussed the findings uncovered during the latest ridership satisfaction survey that was done through a 
poll of existing riders launched last September. Most of the findings were positive, noting 22% of riders 
take the TRE five to six times a week, with 48% ride occasionally for events. 38% use TRE to commute 



 9

to work and 22% ride to reach entertainment or social engagements. The service elements of concern are 
frequency of trains, cleanliness of trains, and personal safety while riding, which had the highest 
percentage of unsatisfied rating. These will be utilized in the messaging in social and digital efforts. 
Improvement of the fleet would have a positive effect on increasing ridership.  
 
Mr. Miller spoke on social media and the events to build ridership, focusing on getting riders on the 
TRE for fun and engaging opportunities for frequency of use. Both agencies have stepped up their use of 
the platforms to increase use of riding TRE to activities. There is a significant of reach and clicks 
through these efforts. The 2023 TRE Summer Staycation and the Texas State Fair are the upcoming 
events the team is focusing on and promoting now. The Outdoor Billboard Campaign is used to reach 
commuters. A series of boards were placed along the I-30 corridor to remind people that TRE is a great 
opportunity for businesspeople to utilize between Fort Worth and Dallas and many points in between. 
The plan is to do the campaign two to three times a year, seasonally based on ridership opportunity. 
 
Mr. Grinnell stated the team is promoting riding TRE to the AAC and seen increased traffic for games 
and events. A lot of the promotions and communications focus on events, which will help to increase 
ridership, in addition to our corporate commuters as well. On some of the specific dates, the team will 
have activities and greet people to engage as they come into the station to attend events also. They want 
to promote other activities such as Main Steet and Earth X around the metroplex where they link to the 
TRE, jump on DART or Trinity Metro, and be able to access those events. 
 
Mr. Miller stated the TRE website has been updated and responsive to the mobile devices. They still 
want to communicate to ride TRE for corporate ridership and the sales team is going into the accounts 
they have memberships with, those that are engaged with DART and have the ability to engage TRE to 
get to places of employment as well. 
 
Ms. Garcia inquired if TRE advertises the same as DART, such as wrapping. Mr. Grinnell stated as far 
as companies advertising on the buses, it is available, but the opportunity is very limited. What they are 
looking to do is holiday train to promote TRE and other opportunities going forward, but it is very 
limited. Mr. Fuller stated TRE is a part of the DART contract for wrapping and advertising and to look 
for that in the future for TRE. Ms. Garcia inquired if the advertising dollars are split between the two 
agencies. Mr. Grinnell stated he would look into that due to this being a new contract and get that 
information back to the committee. The committee discussed reversed marketing efforts on the TRE for 
events in Fort Worth as well as Dallas for promoting. 
 
The committee discussed doing videos from riders to promote on the website. The Trinity Metro 
Marketing department does interviews and videos, as well as DART’s Social Media team that have hired 
influencers that will interview and promote, tying into the community with that information.  
 
Mr. Wageman inquired about the total marketing spend for TRE. Mr. Miller stated each agency has 
dedicated $60K annually towards marketing TRE. Mr. Wageman stated that is a small amount for the 
extensive marketing being done and suggested increasing spending for marketing. Mr. Grinnell stated 
those are the dollars allocated, but they get significantly more through DART’s associations with other 
advertising dollars. 
 
Chair Stopfer stated the TRE is a system that has been overlooked and marketing is another area that 
needs to be looked at. He discussed the various events in the surrounding areas and more should be done 
to promote events there also. The cleanliness and personal safety are the major components we need to 



 10

focus on versus what we have on the other systems, spending the same efforts as we are with other 
vehicles.  
 
Mr. Fuller stated on the security end, DART provides two Fare Enforcement Officers (FEO), a police 
officer, and they have augmented, as they hire armed security officers on the TRE as well.  

 
Action Items: 

 
 Mr. Grinnell to research the advertising contract for wrapping the train and whether DART 

solely pays or the cost is split between both agencies. 
 

 Add the breakdown and specifics of the marketing budget. 
 
7. TREAC Process, Procedures, and Protocols, Rules 
 
Gene Gamez, General Counsel, briefed the Committee as follows (presentation on file in the Officer of 
Board Support), on the Process, Procedures, and Protocols, Rules and introduced Dawn Roberts, Sr, 
Assistant General Counsel, who will assist the TREAC and TRE. Mr. Gamez reviewed how TRE came 
to be, noting in 2003, it started from the ILA. The ILA was last amended in 2021, the 2nd restated 
DART/TM ILA. The ILA was reviewed and not much was changed except the removal of the COG 
representative appointment. In summary, the five areas that pertain to the TREAC are:  
 

 Advisory Committee, no power to commit the boards; 
 6 members, 3 from each authority; 
 Meet regularly, but not less than quarterly; 
 Review any proposed TRE policy, policy revocation or amendment & shall pass along a 

recommendation to boards; and  
 Review TRE annual budget prior to budget being submitted to Boards for approval.  

 
This committee does not have bylaws or rules and would default to Roberts Rules and Order if there are 
any issues unable to resolve. This briefing was presented as an overview of the processes and procedures 
for the committee’s understanding.  
 
Mr. Wageman inquired if the budget has been presented to the TREAC. Mr. Fuller stated TRE puts in 
budget recommendations and share with both agencies, and as they work through the budgetary process 
and go through our “asked” justification. Each agency will approve if the TRE budget is a go for each 
agency. Because of the missed meeting opportunities we had, the budget would normally be brought to 
the committee going through the line items what the TRE is requesting and total dollar amount, then 
advanced to both boards. Mr. Wageman asked that the committee not miss the opportunity to review the 
budget before submitting to the boards. 
 
Mr. Wageman inquired about the revised ILA, asking if the removal of the COG appointment was the 
only change. Mr. Gamez stated as he reviewed the language of both ILA’s and did a comparison of 
them, this was the only revision as it related to TREAC. There were other changes, but this was most 
significant to TREAC. A brief summary of the ILA was requested to the committee members.  
 
Mr. Gamez noted that Ms. Roberts will assist with the minutes capturing the approval items in a separate 
form. Ms. Garcia requested the approved action items are noted when presented to the DART Board. 



 11

Mr. Wageman requested ridership numbers for the current year and how it relates to prior years. Mr. 
Edmonds suggested a monthly report of ridership to the committee. Mr. Lanham stated Trinity Metro 
has a brief overview of the monthly ridership for their board meetings that he will share with the 
committee. The committee also stated there may be a special meeting called in October to discuss these 
issues further. 
 
Action Items: 
 

 Add the TREAC Process, Procedures, and Protocols, Rules presentation to the meeting minutes.  
 

 Provide a brief summary of the ILA to the committee members. 
 
9.  Identification of Future Agenda Items 
 
The annual election for the TREAC Chair is upcoming for the November meeting. Prepare a monthly 
ridership document compared with prior yearly numbers for the committee. 
 
Action Items: 
 

 October Special TREAC Meeting to be scheduled. 

 Prepare a monthly ridership with prior yearly numbers.  
 
10.  Adjournment 
 
Mr. Andreski stated Trinity Metro will be celebrating their 40th Anniversary and celebrating November 
2nd at the Worthington, downtown Fort Worth, at 4:30 pm and all are invited. 
 
Mr. Jackson presented Mr. Fuller as the new Vice President, Commuter Rail Services effective 
September 25th, and providing support for Silver Line Maintenance as it impacts testing and vehicles. 
Mr. Andreski noted that Mr. Lanham with Trinity Metro has been promoted to Vice President of Rail 
also. The committee congratulated both gentlemen for their new positions.  
 
Chair Stopfer thanked the committee and the staff for their commitment and patience. 
 
There being no further business to discuss, the meeting was adjourned at 10:55 am. 
 
 
____________________________ 
Vicki Evans 
Executive Assistant II to  
VP, Commuter Rail  
Dallas Area Rapid Transit 



 
 
 
 
 
 

TRE Advisory Committee Monthly Briefing Report 
Thursday, November 30, 2023 

Agenda Packet  
 
 

1. November 30, 2023 TREAC Agenda 

 
2. September 29, 2023 TRE Minutes 

 

 
3. TRE Ridership 

 Total Monthly Ridership for October –September 
- FY21 - FY22 – FY23 

 
 Monthly Ridership since Inception 

 
4.  TRE Customer Service Interactions  

 
 By category, October – September, FY23 vs FY22 

 
5. Documentation sent to the TRE Advisory Committee since last meeting  

 
 TRE Fuel Spill Memo – October 30, 2023 
 Federal Transit Administration Rail Vehicle Replacement Grant Opportunity 

Letter – November 3, 2023 

 
6. Action Items, Recommendations, and Requests 

 
 Actions/Recommendations Approval Chart 
 Breakdown of TRE 2023 Marketing Expenses 
 TREAC Process, Procedures, Protocols, Rules Presentation  

 














































